

Original Research Article

Merdeka Belajar Curriculum Science Textbook: Integration of Learning Implementation for Critical Thinking Skills

ABSTRACT

Merdeka Belajar Curriculum is implemented with the aim of training students' independence in thinking. Textbooks are an important part of creating learning resources. Through textbooks, teachers will find it easier to carry out learning and students will be more helped and easier to learn. The aim of this research is to examine science textbooks integrated with critical thinking skills that are practically applied to support the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum in junior high schools. This type of research uses educational design research-based development, the intervention developed is a textbook that must meet the criteria of being valid, practical and effective. The research design used is 4-D, namely Define, Design, Develop, and Disseminate. Determining the sample in this research used purposive sampling. Subject selection is carried out to provide the required data and information. The samples for this research were students in class VIII junior high school at the Besuki Ex-Karisidenan. Time for conducting research in Odd Semester 2023/2024. The percentage results during the three meetings, the average implementation of the integration of learning for critical thinking skills using the science textbook in the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum was 0.93. The process of training students to think critically is needed in the learning process so that students can face and answer the challenges of the future. The ability to solve problems requires the ability to think critically in looking for alternative ways to find solutions.

Comment [MDM1]: was

Comment [MDM2]: were

Comment [MDM3]: used

Comment [MDM4]: was

Comment [MDM5]: was

Comment [MDM6]: was

Comment [MDM7]: The time for conducting research was planned for odd Semester 2023/2024.

Comment [MDM8]: was

Comment [MDM9]: required

Keywords: Critical Thinking, Textbooks, Science, Curriculum, Merdeka Belajar

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the important components of the education system is the curriculum, because the curriculum is an educational component that is used as a reference by every educational unit, both by managers and organizers, especially by teachers and school principals. The curriculum is a tool used to achieve educational goals and as a reference in the implementation of education [1]. Curriculum is the heart of education. Much of the success of education lies in the success of the curriculum, from planning to implementation and assessment. So, in order to ensure the success of the curriculum, it is necessary to manage it appropriately and systematically [2].

Freedom to learn is a policy of the Ministry of Education and Culture of the Republic of Indonesia. The Merdeka Curriculum is implemented with the aim of training students' independence in thinking [3][4]. The most important core of freedom of thought is directed at teachers. If teachers are not yet independent in teaching, of course students are also not students in thinking. The Merdeka Curriculum is a curriculum with diverse learning. This curriculum focuses on essential content so that students have enough time to deepen

concepts and strengthen competencies. The Merdeka Curriculum is applied to train independence in thinking [5][6]. With freedom to learn, students can develop their potential according to their talents and interests because students also have different abilities in absorbing the knowledge conveyed by the teacher.

Learning resources are something available in the learning environment that functions to help the learning process for both teachers and students. Textbooks are an important part in realizing learning resources [7]. Through textbooks, teachers will find it easier to carry out learning and students will be more helped and easier to learn [8]. Textbooks can be made in various forms according to the needs and characteristics of the material presented [9][10]. Textbooks are prepared with the aim of providing textbooks that suit students' needs, namely textbooks that suit the characteristics and setting or social environment of students. Presenting textbooks is a teacher's main competency in designing activities and what kind of thinking skills students must master.

Implementing good science learning needs to be equipped with activities that allow students to follow the process of events and encourage thinking processes, for example experiments, practicum or demonstrations to show the emergence of science products in the form of concepts, formulas and laws. However, the results of the needs analysis in junior high schools in the Besuki Ex-Karisidenan show that the implementation of science subject activities shows obstacles caused by limited textbooks that integrate high-level thinking skills with the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum. The results of this analysis reinforce that studying science through processes or carrying out procedures in the form of models to explore or understand science concepts can be said to almost absolutely have to be done, especially focusing on the curriculum [11].

Education must continuously adapt and adjust to the development of modern science and advanced technological innovation, so that it remains relevant and contextual to changing times. Implementation of the development of the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum can be done through curriculum materials [12][13]. Therefore, implementing curriculum development can be done by including it in critical thinking skills textbooks. The process of training students to think critically is needed in the learning process so that students can face and answer the challenges of the future [14]. The ability to solve problems requires the ability to think critically in looking for alternative ways to find solutions [15]. The textbook will contain six core indicators of critical thinking abilities involved in the critical thinking process. Critical thinking indicators include interpretation, analysis, evaluation, inference, explanation, and self-regulation. Therefore, the aim of this research is to examine science textbooks integrated with practical critical thinking skills to support the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum in junior high schools. Based on the conditions and description above, no matter how good the curriculum is, the potential of teachers in teaching using textbooks greatly influences the achievement of educational goals in accordance with process standards in implementing the curriculum.

Comment [MDM10]: was

Comment [MDM11]: incorporate objectives/hypothesis of the study.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The Merdeka Belajar Curriculum policy is implemented to accelerate the achievement of the national goals of education, namely increasing the quality of Indonesian human resources which have superiority and competitiveness compared to other countries. The quality of superior and competitive human resources is realized in students who have noble character and have a high level of reasoning [16]. Freedom to learn is a new breakthrough for the Minister of Education and Culture of the Republic of Indonesia to make the learning process in every school more effective and efficient. The positive impact of independent learning is aimed at teachers, students, and even parents [17]. Independent learning

prioritizes students' interests and talents which can foster creative and fun attitudes in students. The Merdeka Belajar Curriculum answers all complaints about the education system. One of them is that students' grades are only based on the realm of knowledge. Apart from that, freedom to learn makes teachers more free in their thinking so that students follow.

The development of textbooks can provide benefits including: (1) obtaining textbooks that are in accordance with curriculum demands and in accordance with the learning needs of students, schools and regions; (2) no need to depend on the text; (3) textbooks become richer because they are developed with various references; (4) increase the teacher's repertoire in writing; (5) building effective learning communication between teachers and students; and (6) students have more trust in teachers and teaching and learning activities will be more interesting [18]. Science is the science of how to study the universe in a systematic way, not studying concepts in the form of facts that can be remembered, but rather the discovery of knowledge related to the discovery process. Science is knowledge about everyday environmental conditions and even facts or phenomena that occur in the surrounding environment [19]. Science is related to how to find out about nature systematically. Science learning is not only a matter of memorizing, understanding concepts and facts that occur in nature, but is also a process of discovering science. Thus, it can also be interpreted that science is the science of natural phenomena which is demonstrated in the form of facts, concepts, principles and laws whose truth is tested and through a series of activities in the scientific method [20]. Science learning should direct students to find out and do something to gain information and understanding about the natural surroundings as the products and processes they have gone through. Apart from that, science learning not only emphasizes mastery of concepts, but also trains students to be skilled in relating them to everyday phenomena and thinking scientifically [21].

Independent learning prioritizes students' interests and talents which can foster a critical and pleasant attitude in students. The Merdeka Belajar Curriculum answers all complaints about the education system. Learning according to student achievement levels is one of the spirits of independent learning. Teaching to students is adjusted to their initial level of achievement and ability. The Operational Curriculum in the Merdeka Belajar Education Unit contains all learning process plans held in the education unit, as a guide for all learning implementation. Textbooks become a source of knowledge by adding Pancasila student profiles and project themes raised in three stages: introduction, actualization, and real action [16]. Apart from that, textbooks are integrated with critical thinking, which is a thinking activity which includes interpretation, analysis, evaluation, inference, explanation, and self-regulation [22]. Critical thinking skills are very important for students to face various problems, solve the problems they face, and make the right decisions. Critical thinking skills will train students to think logically and not accept things easily. Critical thinking is a complex process that requires higher cognitive skills in processing information [23].

3. METHODOLOGY

3.1 Types of research

This type of research uses educational design research-based development, the intervention developed is a textbook that must meet practical criteria or can be implemented in learning [24]. The research design used was 4-D, namely Define, Design, Develop, and Disseminate[25].

3.2 Sample, Place and Time of Research

Determining the sample in this research used purposive sampling. Subject selection is carried out to provide the required data and information. The samples for this research were

Comment [MDM12]: used

Comment [MDM13]: elaborate the research design and state why the specific design was used for the study.

Comment [MDM14]: was

Comment [MDM15]: for the study purposive sampling technique was used for sample selection.

Comment [MDM16]: was

students in class VIII junior high school at the Besuki Ex-Karisidenan. Time for conducting research in Odd Semester 2023/2024.

Comment [MDM17]: of

Comment [MDM18]: the timing for conducting the research was the odd semester 2023-34.

3.3 Research Stages

The research stages can be described as follows.

3.3.1 Define Stage

The stage used to determine the development needs required in learning. Needs analysis is an analysis of the results of observations of textbooks used in the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum. Student analysis is an analysis of the results of students' observations regarding the need for critical thinking skills. Concept analysis is an analysis of science material in junior high school which is suitable for testing the development of integrated textbooks for critical thinking skills. Task analysis is an analysis of the Competency components of science lessons in junior high schools in the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum. The formulation of learning objectives is the formulation of science learning objectives by learning using textbooks integrated with critical thinking skills, for test level.

3.3.2 Design Stage

Determining the content format design and display design of textbooks integrated with critical thinking skills based on the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum.

3.3.3 Development Stage

Validation of the draft textbook integrated with critical thinking skills by experts, limited testing of the draft textbook integrated with critical thinking skills which has been validated by experts.

3.3.4 Disseminate Stage

Extensive testing or testing of the use of integrated textbooks on critical thinking skills that have been validated by experts and preparation of reports.

Comment [MDM19]: elaborate the tool used for the study.

3.4 Data analysis

Analysis of the practicality of the module can be seen from the results of observations of implementation and obstacles during learning using integrated critical thinking skills textbooks. Observations of learning implementation were carried out by observers using observation sheet instruments. Observers put a check mark (√) in the assessment column. Learning implementation observation scores are made on a scale ranging from 1-100, and processed using the following formula [25]:

$$\text{Implementation of Learning} = \frac{A}{B} \times 100$$

Description:

A = Total observation value of learning implementation

B = Maximum value

Learning implementation data is included in the following learning implementation categories.

Comment [MDM20]: were

Comment [MDM21]: was

Table1.Categories of results of observations of learning implementation

Skor	Category
0 – 39	Not good
40 – 59	Not good
60 – 79	Pretty good
80 – 100	Good

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Implementation of learning is a process that occurs or a reciprocal process between teachers and students and learning media to achieve the goals in the curriculum [26]. This research was carried out by implementing integrated learning implementation for critical thinking skills using the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum science textbook. This research was carried out in three meetings according to predetermined procedures. The research was carried out for students in class VIII junior high school at the Besuki Ex-Karisidenan. At the integration stage of learning implementation, researchers and teachers began to use the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum science textbooks in the learning process. During teaching and learning activities, the researcher acts as an observer, namely observing the course of the learning process from beginning to end. In the observation stage, researchers observed the changes that occurred after implementing integrated learning implementation for critical thinking skills using the science textbooks of the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum.

Observations were made during the learning process. The researcher observed the science learning process based on the observation sheet that had been prepared. The percentage of integration of learning implementation for critical thinking skills using the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum science textbook at the first meeting was 0.93 in the very good category. This shows that there are several aspects that are working well. Observers assess the introductory aspects as generally quite good. The core activities are categorized as quite good, but the closing activities are still categorized as not good. There are several aspects which are categorized as quite good, namely the aspect of providing information about the use of science textbooks in the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum. This aspect influences the aspects in the next step so that the criteria for this advanced aspect are categorized as quite good, namely the aspects of planning in conducting discussions, guiding each other in groups, presenting the results of discussions, asking questions to each group, and giving awards. This happens because teachers are not used to and do not have enough practice with the integration of learning implementation for critical thinking skills using the science textbooks used in the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum.

At the second meeting the average percentage of implementation was 0.93 which was categorized as very good. This shows that all aspects have not been implemented well, which can be seen from the average scores and categories given by observers, in the introductory, core and closing activities in the quite good category. At the third meeting, the average percentage of implementation of the integration of learning for critical thinking skills using the science textbook in the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum was 0.94, indicating that all aspects or stages of learning went very well. The results of these observations are analyzed to see whether the actions taken can improve the implementation of learning in science subjects. The average learning implementation is as follows:

Table 2. Results of Implementation of Learning Implementation Integration

Activity	Meeting			Average Score	Criteria
	1	2	3		
Introduction	0,87	0,94	0,90	0,90	Very good
Core	0,96	0,96	0,94	0,96	Very good
Closing	0,95	0,90	0,96	0,94	Very good
Average	0,93	0,93	0,94	0,93	Very good

One of the most important components in education that is often overlooked is the curriculum. Even though the curriculum has a very important and strategic position. Curriculum is a description of the vision, mission and educational goals of an institution or educational institution. The curriculum is also a central value content that will be transformed to students to achieve educational goals [5]. The Merdeka Curriculum is a curriculum with

Comment [MDM22]: The science learning process was observed in the study on the basis of observation sheet that had been prepared.

Comment [MDM23]: That showed that there were

Comment [MDM24]: were

Comment [MDM25]: were

Comment [MDM26]: were

Comment [MDM27]: were

Comment [MDM28]: were

Comment [MDM29]: influenced

Comment [MDM30]: were

Comment [MDM31]: were

Comment [MDM32]: were

Comment [MDM33]: was

diverse intra-curricular learning, the content will be more optimal so that students have enough time to explore concepts and strengthen competencies. Teachers have the freedom to choose various teaching tools so that learning can be tailored to students' learning needs and interests [3].

5. CONCLUSION

The Merdeka Curriculum is a curriculum with diverse learning and focuses on essential content so that students are able to hone critical thinking so they can deepen concepts and strengthen competencies to develop their potential according to their talents and interests. Based on the percentage results during three meetings, the average implementation of the integration of learning for critical thinking skills using the science textbook in the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum was 0.93. It is hoped that the Science Textbook can help improve students' critical thinking skills to support the implementation of the Merdeka Belajar Curriculum in junior high school. Science learning is not just scientific knowledge, but contains science content, process skills and dimensions that focus on the characteristics of scientific attitudes and character. Science learning is not only useful in terms of the material but is also useful for instilling the values contained in the learning process.

Comment [MDM34]: incorporate implications of the study

REFERENCES

- [1] I. F. U. Manurung, L. AnginAngin, and S. Ratno, "Assistance in the Use of Networked Learning Media to Improve Teachers' Creative Thinking Skills at UPT SPF SDN 101877 TanjungMorawa," *J. Bunga Rampai Golden Age*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 51–55, 2021, doi: 10.24114/jbrue.v7i2.30517.
- [2] R. U. Nurbaeti, "Development of a Science Practicum Module Based on the 2013 Curriculum for Primary School Teacher Education Students," *J. Elem. Education*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.31949/jee.v3i1.2115.
- [3] T. M. Fuadi and I. Irdalisa, "Freedom to Learn Independent Campus: Application in Education Faculty," *AL-ISHLAH J. Pedidik.*, vol. 13, no. 3, 2022, doi: 10.35445/alishlah.v13i3.1125.
- [4] D. Defrizal, A. P. Redaputri, V. T. Narundana, N. Nurdawansyah, and Y. Y. Dharmawan, "The Merdeka BelajarKampus Merdeka Program: An Analysis of the Success Factors," *Nusant. J. Educator. Indonesia.*, vol. 2, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.14421/njpi.2022.v2i1-8.
- [5] N. K. S. Astini, "Challenges of Implementing Freedom of Learning in the New Normal Covid-19 Era and Society 5.0 Era," *LAMPUHYANG*, vol. 13, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.47730/jurnallampuhyang.v13i1.298.
- [6] R. Riowati and N. H. Yoenanto, "The Role of Teachers in Driving Freedom of Learning to Improve the Quality of Education in Indonesia," *J. Educ. Instr.*, vol. 5, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.31539/joeai.v5i1.3393.
- [7] A. Maftukhin, Mundilarto, and H. Kuswanto, "Analysis of Traditional Technology as a Learning Source for Physics," *Int. J. Recent Technol. Eng.*, vol. 8, no. 1C2, 2019.
- [8] S. Viveka, N. B. Pushpa, and K. S. Ravi, "Online Learning Modules in Anatomical Sciences: Effective Sources for Continued Learning for Medical Undergraduates During the Unprecedented COVID-19 Pandemic," *Galician Med. J.*, vol. 28, no. 3, 2021, doi: 10.21802/gmj.2021.3.6.
- [9] I. R. Mega, "Students' Perception of Digital Literacy Competence as Learning Sources,"

- MAJESTY J., vol. 2, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.33487/majesty.v2i1.351.
- [10] N. Purnamasari, S. Siswanto, and S. Malik, "E-module as an emergency-innovated learning source during the Covid-19 outbreak," *Psychol. Eval. Technol. Educ. Res.*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.33292/petier.v3i1.53.
 - [11] İ. Dökme, A. Açıköz, and Z. KoyunluÜnlü, "Investigation of STEM fields motivation among female students in science education colleges," *Int. J. STEM Educ.*, vol. 9, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.1186/s40594-022-00326-2.
 - [12] C. Tosun, "Bibliometric and Content Analysis of Articles Related to Science Education for Special Education Students," *Int. J. Disabil. Dev. Educ.*, vol. 69, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.1080/1034912X.2021.2016659.
 - [13] B. Cavas, "Industry 4.0 and science education," *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, vol. 18, no. 5, 2019. doi: 10.33225/jbse/19.18.652.
 - [14] W. A. Hazaymeh and M. K. Alomery, "The effectiveness of visual mind mapping strategy for improving English language learners' critical thinking skills and reading abilities," *Eur. J. Educ. Res.*, vol. 11, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.12973/eu-jer.11.1.141.
 - [15] U. Arifah, H. Suyitno, and N. R. Dewi, "Mathematics Critical Thinking Skills based on Learning Styles and Genders on Brain-Based Learning Assisted by Mind-Mapping," *Unnes J. Math. Educ. Res.*, vol. 11, no. 1, 2022.
 - [16] F. Fembriani, "Analysis of the Implementation of Science Learning and Independent Learning in Elementary Schools," *J. Ilm. Context.*, vol. 3, no. 02, 2022, doi: 10.46772/kontekstual.v3i02.661.
 - [17] N. F. Monica, "Developing 21st Century Learning Skills in Physics Learning to Support the Independent Campus Program," ... *Nas. Educator. and Science Kim. (SNP...*, 2021.
 - [18] S. Ramli, P. Bundu, and Anshari, "Development of Various Source-Based Learning Models (BeBAS) Character-Oriented Education in Science Learning in Junior High School of City of Makassar," *Asian J. Appl. Sci.*, vol. 9, no. 5, 2021, doi: 10.24203/ajas.v9i5.6732.
 - [19] I. Wicaksono, Supeno, and A. S. Budiarmo, "Validity and practicality of the biotechnology series learning model to concept mastery and scientific creativity," *Int. J. Instr.*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 157–170, 2020, doi: 10.29333/iji.2020.13311a.
 - [20] M. Butar-butur, A. Murni, and Y. Roza, "Practicality of Developing Learning Tools with the Application of the Discovery Learning Model to Improve Creative Thinking Abilities," *J. Scholar J. Educator. Matt.*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 480–486, 2020, doi: 10.31004/cendekia.v4i2.265.
 - [21] F. K. Sari and S. M. Lahade, "The Influence of the Inquiry Learning Model on the Scientific Attitude of Elementary School Students' Curiosity in Science Learning," *J. Basicedu*, vol. 6, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.31004/basicedu.v6i1.1973.
 - [22] I. D. Utama, I. D. Sudirman, R. K. Widayarsi, M. A. Savitri, and D. Morika, "Assessing Critical Thinking Skills and Creativity Skills of Higher Education Students by Using ASSURE Models," *J. High. Educ. Theory Pract.*, vol. 22, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.33423/jhetp.v22i1.4958.
 - [23] R. H. Ristanto, A. S. Ahmad, and R. Komala, "Critical thinking skills of environmental changes: A biological instruction using guided discovery learning-argument mapping (gdl-am)," *Particip. Educ. Res.*, vol. 9, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.17275/per.22.10.9.1.
 - [24] N. Nieveen and T. Plomp, "Five guiding principles for curriculum change," Enschede SLO, 2017.
 - [25] B. Saputro, *Research and Development Management (Research & Development)*, vol. 53, no. 9, 2019.
 - [26] V. P. Coletta and J. J. Steinert, "Why normalized gain should continue to be used in analyzing preinstruction and postinstruction scores on concept inventories," *Phys. Rev. Phys. Educ. Res.*, vol. 16, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevPhysEducRes.16.010108.

UNDER PEER REVIEW

